Technical University of Denmark



EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to chitosan and reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499), maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663), reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664) and reduction of inflammation (ID 1985) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006

EFSA Publication; Tetens, Inge

Link to article, DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2214

Publication date: 2011

Document Version
Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link back to DTU Orbit

Citation (APA):

EFSA Publication (2011). EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to chitosan and reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499), maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663), reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664) and reduction of inflammation (ID 1985) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006. Parma, Italy: European Food Safety Authority. (The EFSA Journal; No. 2214). DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2214

DTU Library

Technical Information Center of Denmark

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to chitosan and reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499), maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663), reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664) and reduction of inflammation (ID 1985) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006¹

EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA)^{2, 3}

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Parma, Italy

SUMMARY

Following a request from the European Commission, the Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies was asked to provide a scientific opinion on a list of health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006. This opinion addresses the scientific substantiation of health claims in relation to chitosan and reduction in body weight, maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations, reduction of intestinal transit time and reduction of inflammation. The scientific substantiation is based on the information provided by the Member States in the consolidated list of Article 13 health claims and references that EFSA has received from Member States or directly from stakeholders.

The food constituent that is the subject of the health claim is chitosan. The Panel considers that chitosan is sufficiently characterised.

Reduction in body weight

The claimed effect is "weight management". The target population is assumed to be overweight individuals in the general population who wish to reduce their body weight. In the context of the proposed wordings and references provided, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect relates to a

¹ On request from the European Commission, Question No EFSA-Q-2008-1466, EFSA-Q-2008-2236, EFSA-Q-2008-2718, EFSA-Q-2010-00616, EFSA-Q-2010-00617, adopted on 08 April 2011.

² Panel members: Carlo Agostoni, Jean-Louis Bresson, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Albert Flynn, Ines Golly, Hannu Korhonen, Pagona Lagiou, Martinus Løvik, Rosangela Marchelli, Ambroise Martin, Bevan Moseley, Monika Neuhäuser-Berthold, Hildegard Przyrembel, Seppo Salminen, Yolanda Sanz, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Stephan Strobel, Inge Tetens, Daniel Tomé, Hendrik van Loveren and Hans Verhagen. The members of the Claims Sub-Working Group on Weight Management/Satiety/Glucose and Insulin Control/Physical Performance: Kees de Graaf, Joanne Harrold, Mette Hansen, Mette Kristensen, Anders Sjödin and Inge Tetens. Correspondence: nda@efsa.europa.eu

Acknowledgement: The Panel wishes to thank for the preparatory work on this scientific opinion: The members of the Working Group on Claims: Carlo Agostoni, Jean-Louis Bresson, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Albert Flynn, Ines Golly, Marina Heinonen, Hannu Korhonen, Martinus Løvik, Ambroise Martin, Hildegard Przyrembel, Seppo Salminen, Yolanda Sanz, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Inge Tetens, Hendrik van Loveren and Hans Verhagen. The members of the Claims Sub-Working Group on Weight Management/Satiety/Glucose and Insulin Control/Physical Performance: Kees de Graaf, Joanne Harrold, Mette Hansen, Mette Kristensen, Anders Sjödin and Inge Tetens.

Suggested citation: EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to chitosan and reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499), maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663), reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664) and reduction of inflammation (ID 1985) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006. EFSA Journal 2011;9(6):2214. [21 pp.]. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2214. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal



reduction in body weight. The Panel considers that a reduction in body weight is a beneficial physiological effect.

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials, which included all the individual human intervention studies submitted for the scientific substantiation of the claim and which investigated the effects of chitosan consumption on body weight, did not show a significant effect of chitosan when only studies that met the allocation concealment quality criteria were considered for analysis.

On the basis of the data presented, the Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction in body weight.

Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations

The claimed effect is "stimulates the regulation of cholesterol levels due to O-carboxymethyl chitosan". The target population is assumed to be the general population. In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect relates to the maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations. The Panel considers that maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations is a beneficial physiological effect.

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials which investigated the effects of chitosan consumption on blood lipids showed a small but statistically significant reduction in total and LDL-cholesterol concentrations.

On the basis of the data presented, the Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has been established between the consumption of chitosan and maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations.

The Panel considers that in order to obtain the claimed effect, 3 g of chitosan should be consumed daily. The target population is adults.

Reduction of intestinal transit time

The claimed effect is "stimulates the intestinal transit by volume effect". The target population is assumed to be the general population. In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to a reduction in intestinal transit time. The Panel considers that reduction of intestinal transit time may be a beneficial physiological effect, provided that it does not result in diarrhoea.

No references were provided from which conclusions could be drawn for the scientific substantiation of the claim.

On the basis of the data presented, the Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction of intestinal transit time.

Reduction of inflammation

The claimed effect is "réduit l'inflammation". The target population is assumed to be the general population.

In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to the reduction of inflammation in the context of maintaining joint flexibility.



The Panel considers that the evidence provided does not establish that a reduction of inflammation in relation to the maintenance of joint flexibility in the general population is a beneficial physiological effect.

On the basis of the data presented, the Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and a beneficial physiological effect for the general population related to the reduction of inflammation.

KEY WORDS

Chitosan, fibre, body weight, LDL-cholesterol, intestinal transit time, inflammation, health claims.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	1
Table of contents	4
Background as provided by the European Commission	5
Terms of reference as provided by the European Commission	5
EFSA Disclaimer	5
Information as provided in the consolidated list	6
Assessment	6
1. Characterisation of the food/constituent	6
2. Relevance of the claimed effect to human health	
2.1. Reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499)	6
2.2. Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)	7
2.3. Reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664)	7
2.4. Reduction of inflammation (ID 1985)	7
3. Scientific substantiation of the claimed effect	7
3.1. Reduction in body weight (ID 679 and 1499)	7
3.2. Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)	9
3.3. Reduction of transit time (ID 4664)	10
4. Panel's comments on the proposed wording	10
4.1. Maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)	10
5. Conditions and possible restrictions of use	10
5.1. Maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)	10
Conclusions	
Documentation provided to EFSA	11
References	12
Appendices	14
Glossary and Abbreviations	21



BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

See Appendix A

TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

See Appendix A

EFSA DISCLAIMER

See Appendix B



INFORMATION AS PROVIDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED LIST

The consolidated list of health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006⁴ submitted by Member States contains main entry claims with corresponding conditions of use and literature for similar health claims. EFSA has screened all health claims contained in the original consolidated list of Article 13 health claims which was received by EFSA in 2008 using six criteria established by the NDA Panel to identify claims for which EFSA considered sufficient information had been provided for evaluation and those for which more information or clarification was needed before evaluation could be carried out⁵. The clarifications which were received by EFSA through the screening process have been included in the consolidated list. This additional information will serve as clarification to the originally provided information. The information provided in the consolidated list for the health claims which are the subject of this opinion is tabulated in Appendix C.

ASSESSMENT

1. Characterisation of the food/constituent

The food constituent that is the subject of the health claim is chitosan.

Chitosan is a linear cationic polysaccharide composed of randomly distributed β -(1-4)-linked D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine produced commercially by the deacetylation of chitin, which is a component of the exoskeleton of crustaceans and the cell walls of fungi. The degree of deacetylation can be measured by established methods, and ranges from 60-100 % in commercial preparations. The molecular weight of chitosan in commercial preparations ranges from 3,800 to 20,000 Da. Chitosan is insoluble in water.

The Panel considers that the food constituent, chitosan, which is the subject of the health claims, is sufficiently characterised.

2. Relevance of the claimed effect to human health

2.1. Reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499)

The claimed effect is "weight management". The Panel assumes that the target population is overweight individuals in the general population who wish to reduce their body weight.

In the context of the proposed wordings and references provided, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect relates to a reduction in body weight.

Weight loss can be interpreted as the achievement of a normal body weight in previously overweight subjects. In this context, weight loss in overweight subjects without the achievement of a normal body weight is considered to be a beneficial physiological effect.

The Panel considers that a reduction in body weight is a beneficial physiological effect.

⁴ Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods. OJ L 404, 30.12.2006, p. 9–25.

⁵ EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA), 2011. General guidance for stakeholders on the evaluation of Article 13.1, 13.5 and 14 health claims. EFSA Journal, 9(4):2135, 24 pp.



2.2. Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)

The claimed effect is "stimulates the regulation of cholesterol levels due to O-carboxymethyl chitosan". The Panel assumes that the target population is the general population.

In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect relates to the maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations.

Low-density lipoproteins (LDL) carry cholesterol from the liver to peripheral tissues, including the arteries. Elevated LDL-cholesterol, by convention >160 mg/dL (>4.14 mmol/L), may compromise the normal structure and function of the arteries.

The Panel considers that maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations is a beneficial physiological effect.

2.3. Reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664)

The claimed effect is "stimulates the intestinal transit by volume effect". The Panel assumes that the target population is the general population.

In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to a reduction of intestinal transit time.

The Panel considers that reduction of intestinal transit time may be a beneficial physiological effect, provided that it does not result in diarrhoea.

2.4. Reduction of inflammation (ID 1985)

The claimed effect is "réduit l'inflammation". The Panel assumes that the target population is the general population.

The Panel notes that the claimed effect refers to reduction of inflammation in the context of maintaining joint flexibility. Inflammation is a non-specific physiological response and changes in markers of inflammation such as various interleukins do not indicate a beneficial physiological effect *per se*. In the context of the proposed wordings, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to a reduction of inflammation in the context of maintaining joint flexibility. The Panel considers that the evidence provided does not establish that a reduction of inflammation in relation to the maintenance of joint flexibility is a beneficial physiological effect for the general population.

The Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and a beneficial physiological effect related to the reduction of inflammation.

3. Scientific substantiation of the claimed effect

3.1. Reduction in body weight (ID 679 and 1499)

The references provided for the scientific substantiation of the claim included narrative reviews and book chapters which did not provide original data for a scientific evaluation, one human intervention study which investigated the effects of a combination of chitosan and glucomannan on body weight, and one intervention study using chitosan which did not report on body weight. Two references on internal reports were not available to the Panel even after every reasonable effort had been made to



retrieve them. The Panel considers that no conclusions can be drawn from these references for the scientific substantiation of the claim.

In addition, one meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials (RCTs, Ernst and Pittler, 2000), one Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2005) and seven human intervention studies on the effect of chitosan on body weight were provided. The Panel notes that all of the intervention studies provided, and those included in the systematic review and meta-analysis, were considered in a more recent update of the Cochrane systematic review (Jull et al., 2008), which was considered by the Panel for the scientific evaluation of the claim. This systematic review was restricted to RCTs which assessed the effects of chitosan on body weight, compared to placebo or standard care in adult overweight or obese males and females, and which had a minimum duration of four weeks. A total of 15 studies out of 42 identified met the inclusion criteria, and these studies comprised a total of 1,216 participants (640 allocated to chitosan and 640 to placebo) with a mean age of 44 years (range 18 to 70 years). Mean trial duration was 8.3 weeks (range 4-24 weeks) and mean study size was 81 subjects (range 24 to 250). All trials compared chitosan at doses ranking from 0.24 g/day to 15 g/day (mean 3.7 g/day) to placebo, but five studies did not report any dose (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Giustina and Ventura, 1995; Sciutto and Colombo, 1995; Veneroni et al., 1996; Woodgate and Conquer, 2003). Sufficient data on body weight were available only for 13 trials, which were considered for data analysis (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Giustina and Ventura, 1995; Ho et al., 2001; Kaats et al., 2006; Macchi, 1996; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999; Schiller et al., 2001; Sciutto and Colombo, 1995; Veneroni et al., 1996; Williams, 1998; Woodgate and Conquer, 2003; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002). Seven studies (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Girola et al., 1996; Giustina and Ventura, 1995; Kaats et al., 2006; Sciutto and Colombo, 1995; Veneroni et al., 1996; Woodgate and Conquer, 2003) used treatment preparations which contained other active ingredients in addition to chitosan, while the remainder used chitosan alone. The treatment preparations contained, in addition to chitosan, guar gum, ascorbic acid and other micronutrients (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Giustina and Ventura, 1995; Sciutto and Colombo, 1995; Veneroni et al., 1996), glucomannan, fenugreek, Gymnema sylvestre and vitamin C (Woodgate and Conquer, 2003), Garcinia cambogia extract and chrome (Girola et al., 1996), and beta-glucan, snow white oat fibre, betamine HCL and aloe saponins (Kaats et al., 2006). The Panel considers that no conclusions can be drawn from these studies, and thus from the meta-analysis in which they were included, for the scientific substantiation of the claim.

When the analysis was limited to trials which used chitosan alone as intervention (Ho et al., 2001; Macchi, 1996; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999; Schiller et al., 2001; Wuolijoki et al., 1999; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002), a small but statistically significant weight loss of -0.9 kg (95 % CI -1.4 to -0.4, p=0.0009) was observed with chitosan compared to placebo. However, when the analysis was limited to trials that met the allocation concealment quality criteria (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999; Schiller et al., 2001), no significant differences between the effect of chitosan and placebo on body weight changes were observed (-0.6 kg, 95 % CI -1.3 to 0.1, p=0.09). Similar results were obtained when the analysis was limited to studies of six months duration (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002). The Panel notes that this meta-analysis does not show an effect of chitosan consumption on body weight loss.

The mechanism by which chitosan is presumed to exert the claimed effect is by binding to negatively charged lipids and hence reducing their gastro-intestinal uptake, and these effects were observed in some animal studies (Deuchi et al., 1995; Sugano et al., 1980; Zacour et al., 1992). However, the effects of chitosan on 24 h faecal fat excretion in healthy human volunteers at doses of about 3 g daily were not statistically significant, and thus were unlikely to have an impact on body weight (Guerciolini et al., 2001).

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that a meta-analysis of RCTs, which included all the individual human intervention studies submitted for the scientific substantiation of the claim



and which investigated the effects of chitosan consumption on body weight, did not show a significant effect of chitosan when only studies that met the allocation concealment quality criteria were considered for analysis.

The Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction in body weight.

3.2. Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)

Five animal studies and one human intervention study on the effects of chitosan on blood lipids were provided for the scientific substantiation of the claim.

The Cochrane systematic review (Jull et al., 2008) cited in section 3.1. also reported on the effects of chitosan on blood lipids and included the only human intervention study submitted for the scientific substantiation of the claim (Macchi, 1996).

Statistical analyses combining the nine trials that provided data on total cholesterol concentrations (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Ho et al., 2001; Kaats et al., 2006; Macchi, 1996; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999; Veneroni et al., 1996; Wuolijoki et al., 1999; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002) were reported in the meta-analysis. However, the Panel notes that some of these studies used treatment preparations which contained other active ingredients in addition to chitosan, and considers that no conclusions can be drawn from these analyses for the scientific substantiation of the claim. When the trials were limited to those that used chitosan alone as intervention (Ho et al., 2001; Macchi, 1996; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002), a small but statistically significant reduction in total cholesterol concentrations of -0.15 mmol/L (95 % CI -0.23 to -0.07, p=0.0002) was observed. Similar results were obtained when the analyses were limited to trials that met the allocation concealment quality criteria (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Pittler et al., 1999) (-0.15 mmol/L; 95 % CI -0.23 to -0.07, p=0.0004). The I²-statistic indicated substantial heterogeneity (I²=59.5 %).

Statistical analyses combining the seven trials that included data on LDL-cholesterol concentrations (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Ho et al., 2001; Kaats et al., 2006; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Veneroni et al., 1996; Wuolijoki et al., 1999; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002) were provided in the meta-analysis. However, the Panel notes that four of these trials used treatment preparations which contained other active ingredients in addition to chitosan (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Kaats et al., 2006; Veneroni et al., 1996; Wuolijoki et al., 1999), and that no separate analysis of the trials using chitosan alone was provided. The Panel notes, however, that whereas the studies by Ho et al. (2001) and Zahorska-Markiewicz et al. (2002), including 68 and 32 subjects respectively, did not show a significant effect on LDL-cholesterol concentrations, the largest study, by Ni Mhurchu et al. (2004), which included 250 subjects (125 per group), observed a small but statistically significant reduction in LDL-cholesterol concentrations in favour of chitosan (-0.12 mmol/L, 95 % CI -0.19 to -0.05). Similar results were obtained when the analysis was limited to the two studies of 6 months duration (-0.14 mmol/L, 95 % CI -0.19 to -0.06) (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002).

Statistical analyses combining the seven trials that provided data on HDL-cholesterol concentrations (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Ho et al., 2001; Kaats et al., 2006; Macchi, 1996; Ni Mhurchu et al., 2004; Veneroni et al., 1996; Zahorska-Markiewicz et al., 2002) were also provided. The Panel notes that three of these trials used treatment preparations which contained other active ingredients in addition to chitosan (Colombo and Sciutto, 1996; Kaats et al., 2006; Veneroni et al., 1996), and that no separate analysis of the trials using chitosan alone was provided in the meta-analysis. The Panel also notes that only the smallest study using chitosan alone showed a statistically significant increase in HDL-cholesterol concentrations compared to placebo (0.15 mmol/L, 95 % CI 0.03 to 0.27; 10 subjects per group) (Macchi, 1996), whereas no significant differences between chitosan and



placebo were observed in any of the other three studies, including the largest study by NiMhurchu et al. (2004), which had the longest duration (6 months).

The Panel notes that while chitosan consumption at doses of about 3 g/day showed, in the metaanalysis by Jull et al. (2008), a small but statistically significant effect on the reduction of both total (combining five studies) and LDL-cholesterol (combining two studies) concentrations, no effect was observed on HDL-cholesterol concentrations.

The mechanism by which chitosan is presumed to exert the claimed effect is by binding to negatively charged lipids and hence reducing their gastro-intestinal uptake, and these effects were observed in some animal studies (Deuchi et al., 1995; Sugano et al., 1980; Zacour et al., 1992). The effects of chitosan on 24 h faecal fat excretion in healthy human volunteers at doses of about 3 g daily were not statistically significant (Guerciolini et al., 2001), and it is unclear whether this could play a role on the claimed effect.

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that a meta-analysis of RCTs, which investigated the effects of chitosan consumption on blood lipids, showed a small but statistically significant reduction in total and LDL-cholesterol concentrations.

The Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has been established between the consumption of chitosan and maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations.

3.3. Reduction of transit time (ID 4664)

Only one reference was provided in relation to the claim.

In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study, Kaats et al. (2006) evaluated the safety and efficacy of chitosan on body composition in a group of 134 overweight/obese adults. The Panel notes that the study did not address outcome measures related to the claimed effect, and considers that no conclusions can be drawn from this study for the scientific substantiation of the claim.

The Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction of intestinal transit time.

4. Panel's comments on the proposed wording

4.1. Maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)

The Panel considers that the following wording reflects the scientific evidence: "Chitosan may contribute to maintaining normal blood cholesterol levels".

5. Conditions and possible restrictions of use

5.1. Maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)

The Panel considers that in order to obtain the claimed effect, 3 g of chitosan should be consumed daily. The target population is adults.



CONCLUSIONS

On the basis of the data presented, the Panel concludes that:

• The food constituent, chitosan, which is the subject of the claim, is sufficiently characterised.

Reduction in body weight (ID 679, 1499)

- The claimed effect is "weight management". The target population is assumed to be overweight individuals in the general population who wish to reduce their body weight. A reduction in body weight is a beneficial physiological effect.
- A cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction in body weight.

Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations (ID 4663)

- The claimed effect is "stimulates the regulation of cholesterol levels due to O-carboxymethyl chitosan". The target population is assumed to be the general population. Maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations is a beneficial physiological effect.
- A cause and effect relationship has been established between the consumption of chitosan and maintenance of normal blood LDL-cholesterol concentrations.
- The following wording reflects the scientific evidence: "Chitosan may contribute to maintaining normal blood cholesterol levels".
- In order to obtain the claimed effect, 3 g of chitosan should be consumed daily. The target population is adults.

Reduction of intestinal transit time (ID 4664)

- The claimed effect is "stimulates the intestinal transit by volume effect". The target population is assumed to be the general population. Reduction of intestinal transit time may be a beneficial physiological effect, provided it does not result in diarrhoea.
- A cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and reduction of intestinal transit time.

Reduction of inflammation (ID 1985)

- The claimed effect is "réduit l'inflammation". The target population is assumed to be the general population. In the context of the proposed wordings, it is assumed that the claimed effect refers to a reduction of inflammation in the context of maintaining joint flexibility. The evidence provided does not establish that a reduction of inflammation in relation to the maintenance of joint flexibility is a beneficial physiological effect for the general population.
- A cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of chitosan and a beneficial physiological effect related to the reduction of inflammation.

DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED TO EFSA

Health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 (No: EFSA-Q-2008-1466, EFSA-Q-2008-2236, EFSA-Q-2008-2718, EFSA-Q-2010-00616, EFSA-Q-2010-00617). The



scientific substantiation is based on the information provided by the Member States in the consolidated list of Article 13 health claims and references that EFSA has received from Member States or directly from stakeholders.

The full list of supporting references as provided to EFSA is available on: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/panels/nda/claims/article13.htm.

REFERENCES

- Colombo P and Sciutto AM, 1996. Nutritional aspects of chitosan employment in hypocaloric diet. Acta Toxicologica et Therapeutica, 16, 287-302.
- Deuchi K, Kanauchi O, Imasato Y and Kobayashi E, 1995. Effect of the viscosity or deacetylation degree of chitosan on fecal fat excreted from rats fed on a high fat diet. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 59, 781–785.
- Ernst E and Pittler MH, 2000. Chitosan as a treatment for body weight reduction. A meta-analysis. In: Chitosan Per Os: From Dietary Supplement to Drug Carrier. Ed Muzzarelli RAA. Atec, Grottammare.
- Girola M, De Bernardi M, Contos S, Tripodi S, Ventura P, Guarino C and Marletta M, 1996. Dose effect in lipid-lowering activity of a new dietary integrator (chitosan, Garcinia cambogia extract and chrome) [Effetto della dose sull'attivita antilipemica di un nuovo integratore dietetico (chitosano, estratto di Garcinia cambogia e cromo)]. Acta Toxicologica et Therapeutica, 17, 25–40.
- Giustina A and Ventura P, 1995. Weight-reducing regimens in obese subjects: effects of a new dietary fiber integrator. Acta Toxicologica et Therapeutica, 16, 199-214.
- Guerciolini R, Radu-Radulescu L, Boldrin M, Dallas J and Moore R, 2001. Comparative Evaluation of Fecal Fat Excretion Induced by Orlistat and Chitosan. Obesity Research, 9, 364–367.
- Ho SC, Tai ES, Eng PH, Tan CE and Fok AC, 2001. In the absence of dietary surveillance, chitosan does not reduce plasma lipids or obesity in hypercholesterolaemic obese Asian subjects. Singapore Medical Journal, 42, 6-10.
- Jull AB, Ni Mhurchu C, Bennett DA, Dunshea-Mooij CA and Rodgers A, 2008. Chitosan for overweight or obesity (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 3, CD003892.
- Kaats GR, Michalek JE and Preuss HG, 2006. Evaluating efficacy of a chitosan product using a double-blinded, placebo-controlled protocol. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 25, 389-394.
- Macchi G, 1996. A new approach to the treatment of obesity: chitosan's effects on body weight reduction and plasma cholesterol's levels. Acta Toxicologica et Therapeutica, 17, 303-322.
- Ni Mhurchu C, Poppitt S, McGill A-T, Leahy F, Bennett D, Lin R, Ormrod D, Ward L, Strik C, Rodgers A and Collaboration. obotE, 2004. The effect of the dietary supplement, chitosan, on body weight: a randomised controlled trial in 250 overweight and obese adults. International Journal of Obesity, 28, 1149–1156.
- Ni Mhurchu C, Dunshea-Mooij CA, Bennett D and Rodgers A, 2005. Chitosan for overweight or obesity. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, CD003892.
- Pittler MH, Abbot NC, Harkness EF and Ernst E, 1999. Randomized, double-blind trial of chitosan for body weight reduction. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53, 379-381.
- Schiller RN, Barrager E, Schauss AG and Nichols EJ, 2001. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study examining the effects of a rapidly soluble chitosan dietary supplement on weight loss and body composition in overweight and mildly obese individuals. Journal of American Nutraceutical Association, 4, 42-49.



- Sciutto AM and Colombo P, 1995. Lipid-lowering effect of chitosan dietary integrator and hypocaloric diet in obese subjects. Acta Toxicologica et Therapeutica, 16, 215-230.
- Sugano M, Fujikawa T, Hiratsuji Y, Nakashima K, Fukuda N and Hasegawa Y, 1980. A novel use of chitosan as a hypocholesterolemic agent in rats. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 33, 787-793.
- Veneroni G, Veneroni F, Contos S, Tripodi S, De Bernardi M, Guarino C and Marietta M, 1996. Effect of a new chitosan on hyperlipidemia and overweight in obese patients. In: Chitin enzymology. Ed Muzzarelli RAA. Atec, Grottammare, 63–67.
- Williams AR, 1998. A double-blind, placebo-controlled evaluation of the effects of RW94 on the body weight of both overweight and obese healthy volunteers. Current Medical Research and Opinion, 14, 243-249.
- Woodgate DE and Conquer JA, 2003. Effects of a Stimulant-Free Dietary Supplement on Body Weight and Fat Loss in Obese Adults: A Six-Week Exploratory Study Current Therapeutic Research, 64, 248-262
- Wuolijoki E, Hirvela T and Ylitalo P, 1999. Decrease in serum LDL cholesterol with microcrystalline chitosan. Methods and Findings in Experimental Clinical Pharmacology, 21, 357–361.
- Zacour A, Silva M, Cecon P, Bambirra E and Vieira E, 1992. Effect of dietary chiton on cholesterol absorption and metabolism in rats. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology, 38, 609–613.
- Zahorska-Markiewicz B, Krotkiewski M, Olszanecka-Glinianowicz M and Zurakowski A, 2002. [Effect of chitosan in complex management of obesity]. Polski Merkuriusz Lekarski, 13, 129-132.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

BACKGROUND AND TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

The Regulation 1924/2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods⁶ (hereinafter "the Regulation") entered into force on 19th January 2007.

Article 13 of the Regulation foresees that the Commission shall adopt a Community list of permitted health claims other than those referring to the reduction of disease risk and to children's development and health. This Community list shall be adopted through the Regulatory Committee procedure and following consultation of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA).

Health claims are defined as "any claim that states, suggests or implies that a relationship exists between a food category, a food or one of its constituents and health".

In accordance with Article 13 (1) health claims other than those referring to the reduction of disease risk and to children's development and health are health claims describing or referring to:

- a) the role of a nutrient or other substance in growth, development and the functions of the body; or
- b) psychological and behavioural functions; or
- c) without prejudice to Directive 96/8/EC, slimming or weight-control or a reduction in the sense of hunger or an increase in the sense of satiety or to the reduction of the available energy from the diet.

To be included in the Community list of permitted health claims, the claims shall be:

- (i) based on generally accepted scientific evidence; and
- (ii) well understood by the average consumer.

Member States provided the Commission with lists of claims as referred to in Article 13 (1) by 31 January 2008 accompanied by the conditions applying to them and by references to the relevant scientific justification. These lists have been consolidated into the list which forms the basis for the EFSA consultation in accordance with Article 13 (3).

ISSUES THAT NEED TO BE CONSIDERED

IMPORTANCE AND PERTINENCE OF THE FOOD⁷

Foods are commonly involved in many different functions⁸ of the body, and for one single food many health claims may therefore be scientifically true. Therefore, the relative importance of food e.g. nutrients in relation to other nutrients for the expressed beneficial effect should be considered: for functions affected by a large number of dietary factors it should be considered whether a reference to a single food is scientifically pertinent.

⁶ OJ L12, 18/01/2007

⁷ The term 'food' when used in this Terms of Reference refers to a food constituent, the food or the food category.

⁸ The term 'function' when used in this Terms of Reference refers to health claims in Article 13(1)(a), (b) and (c).



It should also be considered if the information on the characteristics of the food contains aspects pertinent to the beneficial effect.

SUBSTANTIATION OF CLAIMS BY GENERALLY ACCEPTABLE SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE

Scientific substantiation is the main aspect to be taken into account to authorise health claims. Claims should be scientifically substantiated by taking into account the totality of the available scientific data, and by weighing the evidence, and shall demonstrate the extent to which:

- (a) the claimed effect of the food is beneficial for human health,
- (b) a cause and effect relationship is established between consumption of the food and the claimed effect in humans (such as: the strength, consistency, specificity, dose-response, and biological plausibility of the relationship),
- (c) the quantity of the food and pattern of consumption required to obtain the claimed effect could reasonably be achieved as part of a balanced diet,
- (d) the specific study group(s) in which the evidence was obtained is representative of the target population for which the claim is intended.

EFSA has mentioned in its scientific and technical guidance for the preparation and presentation of the application for authorisation of health claims consistent criteria for the potential sources of scientific data. Such sources may not be available for all health claims. Nevertheless it will be relevant and important that EFSA comments on the availability and quality of such data in order to allow the regulator to judge and make a risk management decision about the acceptability of health claims included in the submitted list.

The scientific evidence about the role of a food on a nutritional or physiological function is not enough to justify the claim. The beneficial effect of the dietary intake has also to be demonstrated. Moreover, the beneficial effect should be significant i.e. satisfactorily demonstrate to beneficially affect identified functions in the body in a way which is relevant to health. Although an appreciation of the beneficial effect in relation to the nutritional status of the European population may be of interest, the presence or absence of the actual need for a nutrient or other substance with nutritional or physiological effect for that population should not, however, condition such considerations.

Different types of effects can be claimed. Claims referring to the maintenance of a function may be distinct from claims referring to the improvement of a function. EFSA may wish to comment whether such different claims comply with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

WORDING OF HEALTH CLAIMS

Scientific substantiation of health claims is the main aspect on which EFSA's opinion is requested. However, the wording of health claims should also be commented by EFSA in its opinion.

There is potentially a plethora of expressions that may be used to convey the relationship between the food and the function. This may be due to commercial practices, consumer perception and linguistic or cultural differences across the EU. Nevertheless, the wording used to make health claims should be truthful, clear, reliable and useful to the consumer in choosing a healthy diet.

In addition to fulfilling the general principles and conditions of the Regulation laid down in Article 3 and 5, Article 13(1)(a) stipulates that health claims shall describe or refer to "the role of a nutrient or other substance in growth, development and the functions of the body". Therefore, the requirement to



describe or refer to the 'role' of a nutrient or substance in growth, development and the functions of the body should be carefully considered.

The specificity of the wording is very important. Health claims such as "Substance X supports the function of the joints" may not sufficiently do so, whereas a claim such as "Substance X helps maintain the flexibility of the joints" would. In the first example of a claim it is unclear which of the various functions of the joints is described or referred to contrary to the latter example which specifies this by using the word "flexibility".

The clarity of the wording is very important. The guiding principle should be that the description or reference to the role of the nutrient or other substance shall be clear and unambiguous and therefore be specified to the extent possible i.e. descriptive words/ terms which can have multiple meanings should be avoided. To this end, wordings like "strengthens your natural defences" or "contain antioxidants" should be considered as well as "may" or "might" as opposed to words like "contributes", "aids" or "helps".

In addition, for functions affected by a large number of dietary factors it should be considered whether wordings such as "indispensable", "necessary", "essential" and "important" reflects the strength of the scientific evidence.

Similar alternative wordings as mentioned above are used for claims relating to different relationships between the various foods and health. It is not the intention of the regulator to adopt a detailed and rigid list of claims where all possible wordings for the different claims are approved. Therefore, it is not required that EFSA comments on each individual wording for each claim unless the wording is strictly pertinent to a specific claim. It would be appreciated though that EFSA may consider and comment generally on such elements relating to wording to ensure the compliance with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

In doing so the explanation provided for in recital 16 of the Regulation on the notion of the average consumer should be recalled. In addition, such assessment should take into account the particular perspective and/or knowledge in the target group of the claim, if such is indicated or implied.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

HEALTH CLAIMS OTHER THAN THOSE REFERRING TO THE REDUCTION OF DISEASE RISK AND TO CHILDREN'S DEVELOPMENT AND HEALTH

EFSA should in particular consider, and provide advice on the following aspects:

- ➤ Whether adequate information is provided on the characteristics of the food pertinent to the beneficial effect.
- Whether the beneficial effect of the food on the function is substantiated by generally accepted scientific evidence by taking into account the totality of the available scientific data, and by weighing the evidence. In this context EFSA is invited to comment on the nature and quality of the totality of the evidence provided according to consistent criteria.
- The specific importance of the food for the claimed effect. For functions affected by a large number of dietary factors whether a reference to a single food is scientifically pertinent.

In addition, EFSA should consider the claimed effect on the function, and provide advice on the extent to which:

- > the claimed effect of the food in the identified function is beneficial.
- ➤ a cause and effect relationship has been established between consumption of the food and the claimed effect in humans and whether the magnitude of the effect is related to the quantity



consumed.

- where appropriate, the effect on the function is significant in relation to the quantity of the food proposed to be consumed and if this quantity could reasonably be consumed as part of a balanced diet.
- > the specific study group(s) in which the evidence was obtained is representative of the target population for which the claim is intended.
- > the wordings used to express the claimed effect reflect the scientific evidence and complies with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

When considering these elements EFSA should also provide advice, when appropriate:

> on the appropriate application of Article 10 (2) (c) and (d) in the Regulation, which provides for additional labelling requirements addressed to persons who should avoid using the food; and/or warnings for products that are likely to present a health risk if consumed to excess.



APPENDIX B

EFSA DISCLAIMER

The present opinion does not constitute, and cannot be construed as, an authorisation to the marketing of the food/food constituent, a positive assessment of its safety, nor a decision on whether the food/food constituent is, or is not, classified as foodstuffs. It should be noted that such an assessment is not foreseen in the framework of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006.

It should also be highlighted that the scope, the proposed wordings of the claims and the conditions of use as proposed in the Consolidated List may be subject to changes, pending the outcome of the authorisation procedure foreseen in Article 13(3) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006.



APPENDIX C

Table 1. Main entry health claims related to chitosan, including conditions of use from similar claims, as proposed in the Consolidated List.

ID	Food or Food constituent	Health Relationship	Proposed wording					
679	Chitosane	Combat l'obésité	Aide à combattre les excès de poids					
	Clarification provided Chitosan (D-glucosamin+	Clarification provided Weight management	Aide dans le cadre d'un régime amincissant					
	N-acétyl-D-glucosamin)	Weight management	Soutient lors d'amincissement					
			Clarification provided					
			Contributes to management of weight control/can help in the reduction of body weight/can help to the control of weight by reducing the quantity of fat absorbed from the diet.					
	Conditions of use							
	- 6x250mg/jour							
ID	Food or Food constituent	Health Relationship	Proposed wording					
1499	Chitosan	Weight Management	Contributes to management of weight control					
			-can help in the reduction of body weight					
			-can help to the control of weight by reducing the quantity of fat absorbed from the diet					
	Conditions of use							
	- 600 mg Chitosan—weiteres B-Vitamine, 150 μg Chrom.							
	- 2-3 g /day, divided uniformly to the main meals a [?].							
	2 3 g / day, di vided dillion	•	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes before the main meals.					
ID			Proposed wording					
ID 1985	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes	s before the main meals.	Proposed wording Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent	before the main meals. Health Relationship	2 0					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent	before the main meals. Health Relationship	Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire Aide au maintien de la santé					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent	before the main meals. Health Relationship	Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire Aide au maintien de la santé articulaire					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent Hydrolysat de chitosan Conditions of use - Dose journalière recomme plus particulièrement aux	Health Relationship Réduit l'inflammation andée: 1500 mg; A utiliser ja seniors; A déconseiller aux	Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire Aide au maintien de la santé articulaire					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent Hydrolysat de chitosan Conditions of use - Dose journalière recomme plus particulièrement aux	Health Relationship Réduit l'inflammation andée: 1500 mg; A utiliser par des personnes allergiques	Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire Aide au maintien de la santé articulaire Bien-être articulaire pendant 1 mois ; Destiné aux adultes, femmes enceintes et allaitantes; Ne					
	- 1-6 g per day, 30 minutes Food or Food constituent Hydrolysat de chitosan Conditions of use - Dose journalière recommen plus particulièrement aux doit pas être consommé p	Health Relationship Réduit l'inflammation andée: 1500 mg; A utiliser par des personnes allergiques	Maintien de la flexibilité articulaire Aide au maintien de la santé articulaire Bien-être articulaire pendant 1 mois ; Destiné aux adultes, femmes enceintes et allaitantes; Ne					



	fibre from crustaceans shell.	of cholesterol levels due to O-carboxymethyl chitosan.			
	Conditions of use				
	- Recommended dose: 1 - 6 g chitosan/day, 30 minutes before the main meals.				
ID	Food or Food constituent	Health Relationship	Proposed wording		
4664	Chitosan - Natural insoluble fibre from crustaceans shell.	Stimulates the intestinal transit by volume effect.	Increases in volume in the interior of the digestive tube by hydration, launches laxation in non-irritative way.		
	Conditions of use				
	- Recommended dose: 1 - 6 g chitosan/day, 30 minutes before the main meals.				



GLOSSARY AND ABBREVIATIONS

RCT Randomised Controlled Trial

LDL Low-density lipoproteins

HDL High-density lipoproteins